ED 172 832

IR 007 563

TITLE

INSTITUTION

PUB DATE NOTE .

FDRS PRICE DESCRIPTORS Report on Questions Paiser and Poquests Made at the 1978 National Conference of Librarians Serving Blind and Physically Handicapped Peaders.
Library of Congress, Washington, D.C. Div. for the Blind and Physically Handicapped.
Apr 79
58p.

MF01/2003 Plus Postage.,

**Blind; Educational Programs; Human Resources;
Library Equipment; *Library Materials; Library
Planning; Library Reference Services; *Library
Services; *Physically Hatlicapped; Publications;
Special Libraries; Visually Handicapped;
Volunteers

ABSTRACT

This report requally a topics addressed at the meeting in the areas of policy and precedures, planning and development, reading materials, equipment, represented acroices, music services, volunteer services, and publication services; information is presented in question and answer normat in each subject area. Questions and comments directed to quest speakers and panelists who participated in the conference are included in six appendices, which are concerned with access to the media, volunteer resources, student resources, religious resources, training, and extension of services. A list of conference attending is also appended. (CWM)

U S. OEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. EOUCATION & WELFARE NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EOUCATION

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPRODUCED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM THE PERSON OR ORGANIZATION OR IGINATING IT POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS STATED DO NOT NECESSARILY REPRESENT OF FICIAL NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY

REPORT.

ON QUESTIONS RAISED AND REQUESTS MADE AT

THE 1978 NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF LIBRARIANS SERVING BLIND AND PHYSICALLY HANDICAPPED READERS

Prepared by the Staff of the
National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped
Library of Congress, Washington, D.C.
April 1979

2



I Roons63

CONTENTS

POLICY AND PROCEDURES	•	y - 1	••	Ţ
Conference Proceedings \	•	-	··	1
1980 Conference	1	•	,	, 1
Open Forum.	.)	•	•	1
Program Services	•	,		1
Staff Exchange	₹ _		•	1
Adherence to ALA Standards:	Re TBs			. 2
Use of NLS Equipment		• •	. `	- 2
		•	**	
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT				2
Excess/Want List Procedures		•		. 2
Tape Quotas		_	- ,	3
Replacement Containers	•	• • •	•	3
Eligibility of Those With	•	0	•	
Learning Disabilities	7			3
Deposit Collections		. -	•	3
				3
MSC Staffing and Services	•			
	• .	•		
READING MATERIALS	•			
Books and Magazines		•	. /	4
TBs and CBs	•			4.
Reissues				` 4
Selection				' 5
Flexible Discs			• /	5
Handcopied Braille	•			`6
Titles in Series				7
Nemeth Code	$\widehat{}$	•		.7
Book Numbering.				7.
Announcements				7、
Automation &	,	•		8
Microfiche Catalog	•	•		. 8
Circulation Systems				10
Cooperative Cataloging	3.			11
Books in Process and t			₩ ,/	
Minicomputer				-12
Interlibrary Loan	•	•	·	13
Bibliographic Data		est,	•	13
Catalog Cards		·: .		13
Book Cards	_		*	13
Copy Allotment Cards			•	14
			•	
EQUIPMENT				14
Machines	•	<u>بر</u> ب		14
> Obsolete Machines	<i>,</i>	}	•	14
Repair	•			14
Machine Changes			-	15
Machine Accountability	v Svetem		. 11	• • •
	y System	•		. 16
and the Audit	\sim	•	* *	
Book Containers		i.	•	18 19
Instructions				. 17

REFERENCE SERVICES		19
Information on Grants		19
Illinois Funding Statistics	\mathcal{A}^{\prime}	
Status of Reference Circulars	•	
Subject Headings	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
Package Libraries	, Ag	
NLS Contacts		
MUSIC SERVICES		20
Announcement of Materials	•	20
Use of NLS Equipment for		
Music Services Only	.	21
Large-Print Hymnals		21
VOLUNTEER SERVICES		21
Fundraising Information		21
NFB Publication		21
•		
PUBLICATION SERVICES		21 .
Mailing List and Distribution	p 2	21
Access to Publications		22
TBT Order Form	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	22
Posters	•	23
Brochures		\23
Younger Reader Catalog		23
Cassette Titles	·	23
TBT Open Reel Submasters	•	. 23
Mublic Education	•	24
Radio and TV'PSAs		24
Exhibits		. 24
		- 1
APPENDIX I		\
Access to the Media		26
	•	
APPENDIX II		
Volunteer Resources	~ `	. 27
ADDENDIV III	•	
APPENDIX III Student Resources		28
Student Resputces	7	20
APPENDIX IV		• / •
Religious Resources		29
WellBlogs Wenograce	• •	
APPENDIX V	•	~
Training	>	31
,		
APPENDIX VI	•	•
Extension of Services		32
4-1:2-2		
APPENDIX VII		
Conference Attendees	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	135
4		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

POLICY AND PROCEDURES

Conference Proceedings

- No. How will the proceedings of the conference be issued?
- A. The proceedings are summarized in a special edition of the NLS News, which is available in both print and braille. Copies of these questions raised during the conference, together with NLS answers, are available in print, braille, and on cassette.

1980 Conference

- Q. What plans do you have for the next biennial conference?
- A. Tentative plans are to hold the 1980 conference in Boston, Massachusetts, in conjunction with other organizations and a combined observation of the 100th anniversary of Helen Keller's birth.

Open Forum

- Q. Will NLS schedule general question and answer sessions in future conferences?
- A. An open forum will be held at all NLS biennial conferences

Program Services

- Q. NLS should continue to provide services which are more efficiently done by a central source.
- A. NLS will confinue to provide such services.
- Q. NLS should alert conference chairpersons to future program developments.
- A. Conference chairpersons will continue to be contacted to identify members for ad hoc committee. Communication regarding technology and service developments will be channeled directly to the network through publications such as NLS News; i.e., Fall 1978 Special Report: Projects and Experiments.

Staff Exchange

- Q. Is there a way for NLS and matwork staff to work in each other's librarie
- A. All requests from people who would like to come to Washington are welcome, together with identification of libraries that would welcome a member of the NLS staff. Details will be worked out on a case-by-case basis.

Forward all recommendations to the Assistant Chief for Network Development.

Adherence to ALA Standards: Re TBs'

- Q. We would like all TBs to be declared obsolete at the regional level.
- A. The "American Library Association Standards of Service for the Library of Congress Network of Libraries for the Blind and Physically Handicapped" recommend that one copy of every title produced by the program be kept by regional libraries. (See part 4.2.7.3.2.) This is also NLS policy.

Use of NLS Equipment

- Q. Can non-Library of Congress material be used on Library playback equipment?
- A. Yes, non-Library material may be used on Library plantack equipment, but Library material must be used on it as well. Library of Congress playback equipment and special attachments are supplied to eligible persons on extended loan primarily for use with this program. By law and federal regulation, if this equipment is not used at all in conjunction with recorded reading material provided by the Library of Congress and its cooperating libraries, the playback equipment must be returned to the issuing agency. This means that patrons must read at least one book or magazine proyided by NLS or a cooperating library each year in addition to whatever non-Library materials they use in order to retain the equipment for the next year.
- Q. Representatives of organizations such as the Christian Record Braille Foundation that distribute recorded materials should be monitored to be sure that use of NLS materials with the machines is encouraged.
- A. NLS is asking appropriate organizations to inform users about NLS program requirements on their application forms. Network libraries are requested to inform the Assistant Chief for NDO of further violations of material usage requests.

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

Excess/Want List Procedures

- will NLS do a study of current excess/want list procedures and develop a more efficient method of processing these lists?
 - A. During the coming months, the Network Services Section will explore alternatives to the present procedures, seeking a faster, less burdensome system for the distribution of excess and want lists.

Tape Quotas

- Q. Network libraries would like to have a trial year with no tape quotas established at the multistate centers to see if this is a feasible procedure.
- A. The tape quota system was initially set up to remedy inequalities of use, i.e., one network librarian would request thousands of items while another would request only a few. Also, it gave NLS hard figures on tape usage for budget estimates. The Network Services Section is reviewing tape quota procedures to determine the effectiveness of the current system.

Replacement Containers

- Q. NLS should provide supplies of replacement cardboard containers for the flexible discs and replacement plastic address card sleeves, because these materials are causing libraries to repackage, mend, or have other problems.
- A. We will include funds in the FY 1981 budget to provide extra containers

Eligibility of Those with Learning Disabilities

- Q. It was announced that there is going to be a committee formed on learning disabilities. We are looking forward to the results.
- A. Public Law 89-522 defines the parameters of NLS service and clearly limits it to individuals who are unable to read conventional print because of a visual or physical handicap. NLS wishes to identify as broad an eligible group as possible under the present statute for this library service. To this end, experts will be consulted during fiscal year 1979 to discuss and clarify NLS program eligibility for persons with learning disabilities and/or neurological dysfunction. A network bulletin on the findings will be issued thereafter.

Deposit Collections

- Q. NLS should issue a very strong directive urging the libraries to provide deposit collections with copies of memos, catalogs, etc. All too many times deposit collection staff find out about things through our patrons and are just not getting materials.
- A. NLS will continue to stress the need for ongoing local communication among related agencies. In fiscal year 1979 NLS plans to issue an entry for the Manual for Regional Libraries concerning deposit library collections.

MSC Staffing and Services

Q. NLS should consider budgeting a machine technologist for the multistate centers to serve libraries, Telephone Pioneers, and others.

- A. NLS did consider including funds for a machine technology specialist for fiscal year 1979 multistate center budgets. All budget increases planned for fiscal year 1979 were disallowed, however, because of the 7 percent budget cut absorbed by NLS in keeping with the 5 percent total cut imposed by Congress over the whole legislative branch. NLS is aware of the need, and interim solutions are being explored until funds are available to include this in multistate center activities.
- Q. It is difficult to find really good technicians for repair and maintenance of duplicating machines, especially in the West. It would be useful to be able to contract for maintenance of duplication equipment with the multistate centers or to have a technician available to train library staff to repair machines.
- A. Our quality assurance plan for MSCs recommends using the same contractor used by NLS for maintenance of duplication equipment. It is possible that individual libraries could also use this facility when available—estimated in FY 1981.

READING MATERIALS

Books and Magazines

TBs- and CBs

- Q. Will NLS consider declaring all the TBs and CBs obsolete, eliminate them from the microfiche catalogs and bibliographies, and expedite their reissuance?
- A. Every effort is being made to reissue CB and TB titles as expeditiously as possible. They may be withdrawn from circulation upon receipt of the RC editions.
 - The CB titles are being processed in numerical sequence; commercially produced items are not being reissued. About 100 TB titles that have never been reissued will also be selected for conversion to RC during fiscal year 1979. Work on conversion of 33 rpm titles will also continue.

Citations of CB titles and TB titles below number 3500 will not be listed in NLS catalogs or bibliographies sent to readers; however, these titles will remain in the microfiche catalog for reference purposes.

Reissues

- Q. Do not reissue titles in the 6000 and 7000 series.
- A. Titles appearing in the 6000 and 7000 series will be reissued only when the Collection Development Section has been informed by libraries, MSCs, and NLS staff that it is desirable.

Selection

- Q. Why is there still a preponderance of titles with explicit sex? Why are there still gaps in the collection, and who is responsible for filling these gaps?
- A. Ewery effort has been made and will continue to be made to select a broad range of titles. Toward this end, many titles from the 1930s, 1940s, and 1950s have been selected. NLS must, however, include in the collection contemporary bestsellers and widely discussed works. The vast majority of these do contain explicit references to sexual acts. Titles will continue to be selected according to NLS policy. NLS must rely on the good judgment of network librarians to request as many or as few copies as may be needed for their collections.

It is true that informational gaps in the collection exist—as they do in all collections. With the assistance of the Ad Hoc Group on Collection Building Activities, NLS is attempting to address this problem. Each year areas that require immediate attention are designated. Using interlibrary loan requests and input from libraries and readers, the taff also addresses other subject areas where needs exist. The network and other agencies must help meet the informational needs of readers desiring materials in narrow subject areas.

The Ad Hoc Group for 1979 will assist in developing a reader profile form to be used by all libraries in place of the ones currently in use. The data obtained should provide a profile of reader needs locally, regionally, and nationally. The data from both sources should provide direction for local collection building activities. Also, results of the NLS user survey will assist in these NLS activities.

- Q. We would like to have advance lists of books for which copy allotment cards will be issued over the whole year so we can do a better job of copy selection.
- A. Until we know we can obtain print book copies and copyright clearance, it is risky to predict what titles will be offered. By the time these two steps are completed, we are already close to sending out copy allotment cards. We are also considering providing periodic lists of books in the pre-copy allotment stages of production.

'. Flexible Diacs

- Q. It is possible that excessive heat at the time of packaging damages flexible discs.
- A. Tests indicate that excessive heat, applied externally, will damage the records without any packaging damage. The mechanization of heat damage is under discussion but current indications are that hear sensitivity is one of the disadvantages of flexible discs that will not be eliminated. The study will also address methods to limit the damage.

- Q. Do different manufacturers produce flexible-disc magazines?
- A. There are currently two manufacturers of flexible-disc magazines: Eva Tone/Evatype in Deerfield, Illinois and the American Printing House for the Blind in Louisville, Kentucky.
- Q. Can flexible-disc packaging requirements be modified to improve the quality of cardboard and reduce the size of containers for those shipments of five or fewer copies? Can they be made to be more easily used by older patrons?
- A. The flexible-disc book program remains developmental. Surveys of users and network libraries will attempt to ascertain additional information about program needs. Changes will be made as appropriate.
- Q. In many areas, the Postal Service continues to fold or bend flexible-disc magazines despite printed instructions to the contrary.
- A. NLS will review its packaging specifications and labeling instructions to indicate more clearly and make it more difficult to fold or bend flexible disc magazines. In addition, NLS suggests that patrons and network librarians complain to postal authorities in service areas where this is a problem.
- Q. Why not put huge books on flexible discs rather than hard discs?
- A. The flexible-disc program was initiated to provide libraries with a large number of copies of best selling and highly popular titles. Collection Development Section bases its decision to produce flexible disc titles on anticipated demand and not on the size of the print edition.
- Q. Can NLS notify readers that flexible-disc book titles are not throw-aways and should be returned to network libraries after use?
- A. NLS is reviewing its specifications for the manufacture of flexible—'disc books and will incorporate changes in the recorded and print labeling to better inform the reader that these editions are for circulation: Announcements will continue to be made in TBT.

Handcopied Braille

- Q. What is NLS doing regarding the future of handcopied braille?
- A. NLS is considering establishing an ad hoc representative committee to study the problem in detail.
- Q. Will the MSCs make copies of books for which masters are available ${\mathscr V}$
- A. As agents of NLS, the MSCs will make thermoform copies of braille masters that meet NLS specifications and are accepted for network circulation. All costs will be absorbed by the MSCs.

- Q. Are there network libraries producing handcopied braille that do not list books in BBR?
- A. Not to the best of our knowledge. It is general knowledge that such materials are produced by libraries in Philadelphia, Cleveland, Des Moines, New York, and Los Angeles and that all of these except Des Moines currently advertise in BBR. Thirty regional and subregional libraries have volunteers who transcribe braille for special purposes, but it should not be assumed that all of these produce hand-copied braille books. Many provide only materials needed by students, professionals, and others. The Oklahoma regional has produced library materials, the Maryland regional is trying to establish a program, the Florida regional has a growing program, and the Utah regional may provide such materials in the future. The Illinois regional has produced and advertised handcopied titles in BBR in the past.
- Q. How will the demand for the BRAs announced in Braille Book Review be met?
- A. Each multistate center will have one copy of the announced titles and NLS will have the master. If reserves begin accumulating at the MSCs, NLS will thermoform additional copies and send them to the centers. Detailed procedures for this system have been developed by the Network Services Section and have been distributed to the MSCs.

Titles in Series

- 'Q. Does NLS have a list of "titles in series" produced for the program?
- A. NLS has compiled and will distribute such a list to network libraries in the near future.

Nemeth Code

- Q. The Nemeth Code revised should be issued in the BR series and the older edition declared obsolete.
- A. NLS will consider adding the revised Nemeth Code to the collection in braille when a new revision is available. Copies in the collection are not yet obsolete.

Book Numbering

- Q. Could blocks of numbers be set aside by format?
- .A. At a working session on the numbering system conference participants unanimously recommended reserving a block of numbers for each recorded forms. A network bulletin explaining this system is in preparation.

Announcements

Q. NLS should not give readers erroneous advance information about the availability of new magazines.

- A. To develop subscription lists for new magazines, NLS must announce their impending availability to readers through Talking Book Topics and Braille Book Review. The announcements are coordinated with manufacturing production schedules. Occasionally, problems arise which cause delays. NLS will continue working to keep these problems to a minimum. Network librarians will continue to be informed when variations occur.
- Q. Network libraries request that the NLS annotation be recorded at the beginning of every book.
- A. Currently, information from the book jacket is recorded at the beginning of each book. This gives the reader the publisher's description of the content of the book. NLS is preparing a nationwide survey of users and will incorporate a question to determine reader preference for including annotations on the recording.

Automation

Microfiche Catalog

- Q. May we have additional microfiche readers?
- A. NBS lends one microfiche reader per library. If more are needed, they should be purchased by the library. Various makes are available between \$100 and \$200; rehabilitated machines may be obtained for less. The reader need not be a Realist Vantage IV, but it must have a capacity of about 48 x blowback. Try other types before you buy one.
- Q. Can we buy additional microfiche copies of each catalog?
- A. When a network library sends us a letter justifying use of a second subscription, we can ususally accommodate it. Earlier editions are still useable when a new edition comes in-titles included in a new edition add less than 10%. If a non-network library wants to subscribe or if a network needs multiple sets, write to NLS Automated Systems Coordinator Allen Deschere. Subscriptions under these circumstances cost from \$60 to \$80 per year, or about \$20 per issue.
- Q. Can we buy printouts of the catalog?
- A. No. A printout of the present catalog would take more than 12,000 pages on legal size paper with the same type you see on your reader screen. Each edition would be at least two feet thick. The cost would be prohibitive.
- Q. How will the microfiche catalog display library holdings for locally-produced materials?
- A.. The cooperative catalog will include holdings of locally-produced materials that the reporting library is willing to make available to other libraries. At this time, listing is restricted to a report from the library that orginated the book; however, the MARC record can contain multiple holdings for one book; if desired, multiple holdings

can be included in the future.

At present, National Union Catalog library codes are being established for each reporting hibrary. Each record contributed will contain library code, local book number if reported, and media code. These data will be displayed every time the record appears in the microfiche catalog.

- Q. Will the microfiche catalog show multiple locations for network holdings?
- A. The MARC record format will allow us to list multiple holding codes if more than one library has a copy of a particular book and is willing to report it and lend it. At present, only the report from the library that originated the book will be accepted. After the program gets underway, however, this policy may be revised.
- Q. Is NES considering inputting this information on OCLC?
- A. We did have some correspondence with OCLC about a year ago. There was little interest in taking steps to accommodate our formats or to provide a separate data base for our records. Furthermore, OCLC is basically a cataloging system, with very limited retrieval capabilities. BRS has proved more suitable for retrieval.
- Q. Could you put the author-title index to contents of anthologies on fiche?
- *A. Putting items on fiche requires a substantial amount of computer programmer effort, and this is an area in which available resources are very limited. Because of the higher priorities for other jobs, we have to limit their use to those things which cannot readily be done in other ways. The index distributed at the National Conference consisted of forty print pages. A document of this size does not appear to warrant the programmer effort required to put it on fiche. This information can be found by searching the BRS data base. You can ask the NLS Resources Coordination Unit to locate an item for you, or, if you have access to BRS, you may do it yourself.
- Q. In regard to BRAs and the microfiche catalog, why not scrap the union catalog and start from scratch using a small panel to address the problems and formulate the catalog?
- A. With the continuing automation of NLS records, the streamlining of procedures, and the greater involvement of the network in collection-building activities and other areas, the groundwork is being prepared for a more responsive, coordinated approach to providing reader services. We are building from scratch while still providing information and materials. Network libraries are encouraged to continue to work with us constructively as individuals and through committees to make the system meaningful and efficient.

- Q. Can book content information be available on fiche?
- A. Current programming priorities do not include content analytics in the microfiche catalog. Programming costs are already prohibitive for the few anthologies compiled by NLS. The manual author-title listing will be updated, and can be considered an auxiliary reference tool to be used in conjunction with the microfiche catalog.
- Q. For the big books ... show on the fiche if the book has more than one container, please.
- A. When books are supplied in multiple containers, this information appears in the collation statement, e.g., eleven cassettes in two containers. Collation is displayed in the book number catalog, but it is not one of the fields that appears in the indexes. We are reluctant to enlarge the indexes in the several, ways that have been suggested because it will make them more difficult to scan.
- Q. About the frequency of issuing the microfiche catalog--could we have it go monthly to the multistate centers?
- A. Just creating the set of master fiches is the big job. We do not see at this point how we can possibly do it monthly. If we could, we would send it to the whole network. As you know, the Resources Coordination Unit will provide searching services for you on request. Also, the possibility of providing supplementary lists of books shipped but not in the microfiche catalog is being investigated.

Circulation Systems

- Q. There needs to be a stronger hand at NLS in helping us determine a system or in providing a more cohesive national circulation system. If we all go out and do our own thing, like with the manual system ... we will never come up with any standard.
- A. Our experience with automated circulation systems shows that there are so many variables involved (e.g., makes and models of hardware,, programming languages to which each library's ADP resources are accustomed, timesharing vs. stand-alone availability, details of the way each library wants to operate, and technological progress from system to system) that nobody has exactly copied anyone else, let alone been interested in a "standard" system. When a library starts looking at systems, we advise on the most up-to-date methods, and it can choose among them or go its own way. If a library wants to define exactly which variables apply to its interests, we can direct it to the most appropriate system.

As for "standardization," this is not important until libraries have need to exchange information in machine-readable form. We are considering areas in which this may develop, and we will work cooperatively with the automated libraries to adopt the best format for such an exchange. This will have little effect on how a library runs its system. Only a short program will be needed to put out and take in data in the agreed format. We are also exploring a format for statistical printouts which would provide the NLS Collection Development Section with feedback data from the circulation systems, both automated and manual, based on readers expressed interests and on the actual circulation of books in selected categories. Also, we are hoping this year to contract for development of optimum procedures for manual circulation systems.

- Q. There was great interest—and I remember many of those are small libraries—in some kind of additional help on automated circulation systems. Many of these libraries are really too small to be able to afford a systems analyst to help them. Some kind of consulting help would be useful.
- A. Small libraries use the same computer functions and most of the same titles as large libraries; only their patron list is shorter. Thus, their systems will be almost as expensive as large libraries. In cases like Worcester, the city's ADP people did the job for them on their timesharing computer. Perhaps there are other places where small libraries can piggyback an existing operation. If the small library can afford the \$150,000 or so to stand alone, NLS can assist it in finding a vendor to do the same job he has done for someone else, or to copy a system developed in-house, or to hire a consultant who will develop and ride herd on the job. There is no prospect that NLS can provide extended full-time consulting services required to get a system up-and-running and to train the library personnel to operate and maintain it.

Cooperative Cataloging

- Q. When a copyright request is sent to NLS, will the requester be told if someone else intends to produce the book?
- A. The requesting library will be advised if the particular title is in process through another source; however, NLS needs to be kept up-to-date by network libraries that clear their own copyright.
- Q. We would like NLS to continue to seek network input about the fiche in the progressive stages of the planning of future programs.
- A. We assume this refers to cooperative cataloging and changes in fiche catalog formats and entry points. We have tried to get representative response from the network through questions in the Automated Systems Coordinator's monthly report, network bulletin questionnaires, and sensitivity to individual comments submitted by network libraries. Generally, the number of responses and comments are too few to be construed as more than individual preference. We expect to ask each conference to appoint a person responsible for expressing representative opinion for that conference. In this way, details can be worked

out that are acceptable to at least a majority of libraries. It will be up to that representative to get the opinion of the specific region.

- Q. In the cooperative cataloging program there are a lot of questions about what happens when libraries have the same book. How are you going to work with other agencies, such as Recording for the Blind and Volunteers for the Blind?
 - At the present time, only one library holding report will be accepted for each recorded or brailled book. That report must come from the originating library. If two libraries have independently produced recorded and braille copies of the same print book, however, both can report their versions. Each will be a separate catalog record. In the future, the program may be expanded to include copies of one recorded or braille book available from various sources. This would certainly reduce the demand for copies placed on any one library; however, we do not know how great a demand will be created by this program. Our experience with the BRAs is that requests for BRAs at NLS have doubled in the past year as more and more titles have been added to the catalog. There is no plan to add individual holdings of titles in the national collection to the catalog, because it is assumed that every library, has these books. Volunteer agencies outside the fregional and subjectional library network to catalog system will be phased into the catalog system. only after the procedures for network library reports are firm 1/2 established.

Books in Process and the Minicomputer

- Q. What is TULIP?
 - TULIP—Titles Union List In Process—is a listing of titles in process, both at NLS and in the network where libraries have requested copyright clearance through NLS. It is not currently available outside NLS, but a listing of titles in process is planned for distribution after the NLS minicomputer system has been implemented.
- Q. Will we be able to get TULIP on fiche?
- A. Records in our existing in-process system are inappropriate for issue as TULIP. If output, it could be put on fiche. We hope to be able to offer something of this type in the future when the minisystem is in full operation or through another system.
- Q. Would a report of all the books in process tell who is requesting each, so that the other libraries can know who is doing it, if NLS is not.
- A. Yes, such a report can include this information. It seems unlikely, however, that it can be produced before the new minicomputer has been up, fully loaded, and running for a while. That means at least a year from now.

Inteflibrary Loan

- Q. There seems to be some problems with NES in checking interlibrary loan requests against the materials already in production. Some requests are , returned with the response that materials are not available and actually they are, or very soon will be.
- A. The Resources Coordination Unit searches all available files including the in-process files to ascertain whether a particular title is being produced for NLS; however, new books are constantly being selected for the program and are continually being added to the in-process file.

 Although a title may not be found in the in-process file when an interplibrary loan request is received, it may be added shortly afterward. Requests to check the availability of a title before local production begins should be sent to NLS as close as possible to the recording date to assure a minimum of duplication with national program books. There has been only one instance of this problem that we are a pare of If others are discovered, NLS should be notified immediately.

Bibliographic Data

Catalog Cards

- Q. Will cards always be available?
- A. Catalog cards for NLS-produced braille and recorded books will not be available after a yet-to-be-determined date.
- Q. What can the Library of Congress catalog service provide?
- A. Catalog cards for the original print edition of the NLS recorded or braille book may be purchased. Contact: Customer Services, Catalog Distribution Service, Library of Congress, Washington, D.C. 20540.

Book Cards

- Q. Book cards have color codes that are incorrect; juvenile levels are not always indicated, and printing is sometimes poor or placed too low on the card.
- A. Tighter controls have been adopted to assure that book cards are properly printed and include grade levels. One manufacturer is replacing cards that were printed incorrectly.
- Q. / Could book cards be coded by subject?
- A. The abridged Dewey number currently used on the book card was intended to serve this purpose. Before we add other information, NLS will survey network libraries to determine current and future applications of the book card.
- Q. Please insure that book cards indicate earlier numbers if they are reissues.

- A. . We are including previous numbers on book cards for reissues.
- Q. Can copyright dates be put on book cards?
- A. NLS is defining dates to be used with annotations in TBT and BBR. When such dates can be incorporated into the automated system, they will be included on book cards.
- Q: Can NLS make more use of the Children's Catalog to indicate the grade levels for juvenile titles?
 - During this process, NLS does consult the Children's Catalog. However, grade levels assigned are based on anticipated use in braille or recorded form which may not always be the same as those recommended for the print edition.

Copy Allotment Cards

- Q. Can the copy allotment cards be annotated to indicate which titles will be produced in both cassette and flexible disc editions?
- A. NLS is currently modifying the automated system used in conjunction with the Copy Allotment System. This requirement is being incorporated and should be implemented during the coming year.

EQUIPMENT

Machines

Obsolete Machines /

- Q. There's some confusion about disposing of obsolete AE machines. Different network bulletins and other information seem contradictory as to GSA requirements. We need clarification.
 - Network Bulletin No. 333 dated December 27, 1977 states clearly that models AE1, AE2, AE3, AE4, AE5, and AE5A were declared obsolete effective March 1, 1978. A list of GSA Property Disposal offices and the states they cover were attached. The bulletin also stated that the network should contact the proper GSA office about disposal instructions. Machines declared obsolete may be donated to nonprofit organizations if the recipients agree not to sell the donated equipment. If there is any doubt or confusion about future disposals, please contact the NLS Equipment Control Officer.
 - Q. C-73s should be declared obsolete.
 - A.NLS is in the process of declaring C-73s obsolete.

Repair

14

Q. When will the videotape training programs on machine repair be available?

- A. The contract for producing the first three video cassettes is on schedule with completion due in February 1979.
- Q. Our library has a three-quarter inch video player. Will it play back the new training tages?
- A. Yes. The three-quarter inch cassette--also known as the "U-matic" system--is the most widely used vidéo format:
- Q. Will the first video tapes cover repair of the A-77 or the combination machine?
 - The first three tapes cover routine, minor maintenance common to currently produced machines. When and if the combination machine is produced it will come under the same repair program. Maintenance instructions for specific models are planned for subsequent training tapes.

Machine Changes

- Q. Why was the speed motor changed on the A-77 machine?
- A. More than one source for any given product is always desirable to foster competition. As a consequence, after performance inspections were made, a substitution motor was accepted. The motor was manufactured in Japan, but subsequent experience determined that armature mountings broke during shipment and that idler wheels and turntables were incompatible with General Industries motors even though we were assured that compatability was assured. The entire assembly is replaceable without change to the motorboard mounting holes, but the entire assembly must be used when parts are required, therefore the contractor was required to return to the General Industries assembly for the A-78.
- Q. A technical circular is needed to explain the A-77 automatic shutoff adjustment.
- A. One is in preparation.
- Q. Can a locking mechanism be applied to the speed control so that users will not inadvertently change playback speeds?
- A. Yes, but such a development could lead to more problems. It is possible that if such a lock existed, users would then have difficulty unlocking the speed control: Libraries must assume responsibility for familiarizing users with the machine and providing solutions by phone to the extent possible.
- Q. The cassette machine should be simpler, and more automatic.
- A. This recommendation will be given full consideration.

Machine Accountability System and the Audit

- Q. Relative to machines whose records are to be audited--so these records will not be checked for the C-76 and earlier? Do I understand you are saying we are starting with the C-77?
- Our computerized records identifying specific machines held by responsible lending agencies start with the C-77s only. We are not trying to input information about earlier machines by serial number and location. However, the auditors will look at the earlier records in the course of a visit to determine the effectiveness of overall record-keeping and inventory.
- Q. In connection with machine audit visits, will they be looking at the sublending agencies?
- A. NLS keeps records only of machines charged to lending agencies. When a machine's records are being checked and the lending agency reports a sublending agency is handling it, the trail will be followed through the sublending agency to the patron. If the sublending agency records fail to account for such machines, an audit of the sublending agency may be performed.
- b. In the machine accountability program, what about accessories?
- A. Because these items do not carry serial numbers, they cannot be tracked in detail. We can only deal with quantities. For accessories and major spare parts, the best we can do is record what is shipped to whom, and try to determine from the records about the accountability for them.
- Q. When the machine-lending agency and regional library are two separate agencies, will the regional library be advised of the machine-lending agency audit?
- A. The lending agency and the agency responsible for the signing of the Lending Agency Service Agreement will each receive copies of the audit report. A decision has not been made to discuss these matters with others.
- Q. In a few states there are two machine agencies that lend machines to the same people. Will there be two separate reports based on the work done by each agency or will there be one report covering both?
- Each lending agency, no matter how many in any one area, will be audited as a separate agency and audit reports will be confined to the findings for that agency.
- Q. In event of excess errors, will there be follow-up audits by NLS?
- A. Yes.
- Q. The NLS Equipment Control Officer will not be making field audits.

 Is that correct?

- A. ANL'S will not make field audits; however, field follow-ups may be made.

 We will visit machine-lending agencies to assist as needed to prepare

 for an audit or to make corrections in areas that were rated not satis
 factory, or to clarify procedures for reporting to NLS on proper

 maintenance of inventory records.
- Q. As there anything that we can do in preparation for an audit? With respect to the amount of work space required, will we know whether it is going to be two, three, or four people?
- A. You should prepare for at least two auditors. Only desk space is required.
- Q. Does the work space have to be close to where the machine records are?
- A. It is preferred that the work space be near the records, but it is not absolutely necessary.
- y.Q. Can the work of the lending agency go on?
 - A Yes, but from time to time questions will be asked to clarify certain situations.
 - Q. How do totally blind people confirm machine numbers?
 - A. They cannot. Some contacts will be made by phone or mail; others will be in person.
 - Q. Is there anything that needs to be done to contact any of the users who have machines?
 - 'A. Basically you will need only to provide the auditor with the reader's name, address, and phone number if available. The auditor may request your assistance to contact users.
 - Q. A simple announcement in Talking Book Topics would be better than mailing something to users.
 - A. Users have already been contacted by auditors in one state without any previous announcement. Eighty-five percent had appropriate machines in their possession. No problems arose from this direct contact by the auditors without previous notification.
 - Q. I am more concerned about possible negative effects on patrons who are contacted cold.
 - A. We are all concerned. There may be some negative effect no matter what method is used; however, if all patrons were advised through TBT, readers would be questioning why no one visited them. Close attention will be given to this matter.
 - Q. Will there be any possibility of sending a flyer to readers advising them of the probability of federal audit? I think people would like that rather than just being called.

- they serve of a possible audit. It is the lending agency that is being audited, not the user. Contacting the user is only a confirmation. If any change in the present procedure is indicated, it will be made.
- Q. Readers should be advised on the application for service that the machine assigned is subject to audit
- A. Your suggestion is well taken. Auditing is really new to all of us. We do not want to-cause panic or fear; especially to the user of applicant.

 After we have more experience with this system, we will develop an effective way to communicate the information to readers.

Book Containers

- Q. What should be done with existing containers when new ones arrive?
- A. Containers with straps and buckles will be discarded; plastic containers will be discarded as they wear out.
- Q. Will the new RD container for recorded discs hold 10-inch and 7-inch discs?
- A. Yes. A special insert will accommodate 7-inch discs.
- Q. About the new containers—would a clear plastic envelope with one slit on the side be acceptable to postal officials?
- A. This issue and the possibility of card insertion from outside the container are being investigated.
- Q. Was the new container field tested? If so, where?
- A. When available, the new container will be field tested locally and nationally; however, U.S. Postal Service approval will be overriding.
- Q. If the postal requirement is that the mailing label of book containers be protected, would the clear plastic envelope with a slit in the side (such as used for circulating magazines like Readers Digest) be acceptable to the Postal Service? Will the NLS people working with the Postal Service about new containers please talk with the authorities further about whether or not these plastic sleeves for addressed cards could be used and would satisfy postal requirements as an alternative to the internally accessed opening?
- A. There is no requirement by the U.S. Postal Service that the label be "protected." The label must be securely affixed and be legible at a 30" distance. Also, postal officials must be able to ink stamp and/or write with a #2 pencil on the label.

The Reader's Digest "sleeve" or card holder is fine for magazines in which the cardboard container has a one-way or limited number of trips through the mail. It is conceivable that such a "sleeve" could come loose in bulk mail center machinery and cause a higher loss of materials than now sustained. NLS is continuing to explore alternatives, however, and the needs of librarians and readers will be considered.

Instructions

- Q. NLS should provide simple diagrams and large-print instruction for existing machines.
- A. Large-print instructions are included with each machine. Replacement copies are available from the NTS Equipment Control Officer. Braille, large print, and recorded operating instructions provided for machines are carefully reviewed for proper content and adequate explanation.

 A fine line must be walked in order to prevent condescension in instructions and yet make them simple enough for understanding.

Individuals who are unable to follow the instructions given must rely on their regional libraries for further instructions and help. The wisest course of action for the regional library to take is to be sure that library personnel are familiar with machine operation and that they can explain the operation over the phone. Additional instructions in the form of diagrams will not prevent the requirement for telephone assistance.

- Q. Some cassette patrons are having trouble learning to use the machine.
- A. NLS continues to design cassette machines and instructions aimed at making this equipment as easy to use as possible. Specific suggestions for improvement in this area are always welcome.

REFERENCE SERVICES

Information on Grants

- Q. NLS should provide information and consultant service on grants.
- A. The NLS Reference Section is researching the general subject of grants-manship. Staff is studying basic information, identification of funding sources and specific grants programs applicable to library service, and techniques of application and proposal writing. The experiences of network participants will be solicited in a survey planned in spring 1979. Identifying successful grant proposals is one of the objectives of the survey. The information acquired will be assembled in compact form and distributed to all network libraries. As significant new information about grants programs at the national level is obtained, it will be passed on to the network. Conference chairpersons might consider this subject as an agenda item for their 1979 meetings.



Illinois Funding Statistics

- Q. Illinois funding statistics are reported incorrectly in 1978 directory.
- A. Barbara Peterman has contacted Robert Ensley at the Illinois State Library for correct information.

Status of Reference Circulars

- Q. You should send out a network bulletin listing reference circulars available, planned, and obsolete.
- A. Reference Section is preparing a network bulletin with this information.

Subject Headings

- Q. Send out an updated edition of subject headings for material on blindness and physical handicaps.
- A. Reference Section will issue a supplement containing additions and changes made since the last issue of the list of subject headings. This supplement will be distributed in 1979.

Package Libraries

- Q. The most important "package libraries" produced should be "Information on Section 504 Compliance and Laws on the Handicapped."
- A. The package library on Section 504 will be distributed to network libraries in spring 1979. Others will follow at a rate of one every two months.

NLS Contacts

- Q. Please distribute a revised list of contact persons at NLS,
- A. NLS is undergoing an internal reorganization that will be reflected in a new list of contact persons. This new list will be distributed immediately following formal approval of the reorganization.

MUSIC SERVICES

Announcement of Materials

- Q. Will the Music *Section send a network bulletin and information packet about NLS music materials?
- A. Network Bulletin No. 462 of December 7, 1978 announced recent music publications. Copies of these and other music publications were sent to the libraries separately. In the future, music publications will be announced regularly with sample copies enclosed. On an annual basis, we will send packets of samples of all music materials to make new NLS network staff aware of the music program.



20

24

Use of NLS Equipment for Music Services Only

- Q. Will NLS supply playback equipment if patrons use music materials only?
- A. Although requests for music alone without other services have been rare in the past, a policy and procedure statement is being drafted to clarify whether to permit music-only patrons to receive playback equipment directly from the NLS Music Section. Patrons must be certified and NLS materials must be used.

Large-Print Hymnals

- Q. Where can we find large-print hymnals?
- A. The Music Section has a list of hymnals in braille and large print; however, the selections are limited to very few—23 in braille and five in large print. The list will be sent to any interested patron or library upon request. Many requests for hymnals are received and Music Section searches for more titles constantly. A policy is being drafted related to collecting hymnals at NLS. NLS encourages the various publishing houses of hymnals to produce their products in large print and braille formats.

VOLUNTEER SERVICES

Fundraising Information

- Q. Where can we receive further information on volunteers and fund raising?
- A. Information is available from: National Information Center on Volunteerism, P.O. Box 1807, Boulder, Colorado 80306.

NFB Publication

- Q. Will you recommend NFB's publication Beginning Braille for Adults?
- A. This book was prepared by Mabel Nading and Ramona Walhof with taped instructions and exercises in braille. Copies have been ordered so NLS staff can become familiar with the book.

PUBLICATION SERVICES

Mailing List and Distribution

- Q. When is NLS going to improve the TBT mailing list?.
- A. Specifications have been developed and bids are being solicited for a new, comprehensive mailing list system. Conversion of all current publication subscriber lists is involved. See Network Bulletin No. 461 of December 5, 1978 for full details.
- Q. When you print out the name and addresses of TBT subscripers on three by five inch cards, please include information on whether the individual receives large print, disc, or both editions.

- A. Under a new mailing list contract, we should be able to provide this information.
- Q. Provide monthly mailing list transaction reports on pressure-sensitive labels.
- A. Specifications for the new mailing list contract require the contractor to have this capability.
- Q. Columbus, Georgia and Arlington, Virginia subregional libraries receive too many copies of BBR. Please have only two subscriptions per library.
- A. This problem is probably resolved by now. Last spring each library was asked to state the number of copies desired for each format of TBT and BBR. The mailing list contractor says that all changes took effect with the mailing of the November-December issues.

Access to Publications

- Q. When we order publications, we are sometimes told there are none at the regional library or the multistate center
- A. The publications inventory is adequate at all multistate centers and NLS. The only publications in short supply during the last two years have been limited-produced reference materials and posters. Forms are not publications.
- Q. Why can't subregional libraries use the new publication order forms?
- A. Subregional libraries are supposed to use these forms.

TBT Order Form

- Q. Clarify in the instructions to TBT readers that order forms can be mailed postage free.
- A. The order form instructions were revised as of the January-February edition to make this point clearer.
- Q. Book numbers listed on the TBT order form should be in OCR readable characters so that the information can be entered into automated systems easily. Can you make this change?
- Publications and automation staff members are experimenting to learn if this suggestion is feasible. The Government Printing Office has agreed to help produce acetate overlays for the order forms of the Talking Book Topics print edition. We are considering use of OCR-A type at the end of each entry on the order form for the recorded edition. Before implementation, however, numerous technical details must be addressed and user acceptance established.

Posters

- Q. Can you provide large posters for distribution to public libraries?
- A. Large posters have not been as useful as small ones; therefore, reprints and a newly-designed poster available this year are about 14 by 17 inches. If budget permits, a limited supply of large posters will be ordered later in the fiscal year.

Brochures

- Q. Some NLS brochures are difficult to run through automatic stuffing machines because of their size, fold, or thickness. Can you print a two-sided brochure that inserts easily into envelopes?
- A. Card-type informational pieces have been ordered and were available in February. Consideration will be given to this format for additional brochures.

Younger Reader Catalog

- Q. It would be preferable to include juvenile cassette books in juvenile catalogs.
- A. We are considering including all juvenile titles in For Younger Readers 1978-1979 and thereafter.

Cassette Titles

- Q. When are you going to publish a Cassette Book Topics?
- A. We have no plans to publish a separate magazine to announce cassette titles. It is not cost-effective to produce separate publications for recorded titles.

TBT Open Reel Submasters

- Q. The MSCW has indicated that it cannot duplicate TBT on cassette for western libraries. Why not?
- A. Regional libraries and MSCW are being supplied with open-reel submasters of TBT so that copies may be made for patrons. The MSC submasters are intended primarily as back-up for submasters provided to the regionals; regionals are expected to provide the bulk of copies to patrons. MSCW can produce copies for patrons by using the regional library's tape quota, but this amount of tape is not enough to handle all necessary copies.

Public Education

Radio and TV PSAs

- Q. Can more libraries in the network receive copies of the radio and TV /announcements?
- As of January 1979, the following network library service areas have been extended this service: Georgia; Florida; Louisiana; Dallas, Texas; Kentucky; Nevada; Oregon; New Mexico; Alaska; the District of Columbia; Vermont; New Jersey; Indiana; Michigan; Illinois (partial); Nebraska; and Kansas. In some instances, the participating library will use print services only or radio and not television, etc.
- Q. Will radio and television PSA scripts be available to the network?
- As part of the public service campaign, we use scripts for stations that prefer them over prepackaged recorded and/or filmed material. Eventually we plan for scripts to become a part of a regularly-produced information package of news releases, exhibit information, and other publicity material. In the meantime, libraries not participating in the public service campaign that want copies of scripts should contact Publication Services.

Exhibits

- Q. How can libraries purchase ZIBIT the pop-up unit demonstrated at the conference?
- A. This unit costs about \$1400 plus graphics. It may be purchased from:
 Nomadic Structures, Inc., 5121 Henderson Road, Temple Hills, Maryland
 20031. The manufacturer will construct small units suitable for table
 top use in quantities of thirty and more for about \$500 each plus graphics.

APPENDIXES

Questions and comments directed to guest speakers and panelists who participated in the conference are included in the Appendixes.





APPENDIX I

ACCESS TO THE MEDIA

- Q. Do newspaper reporters and editors read newsletters that are mailed to them?
- A. "On my newspaper, yes. We open every piece of mail. We get all kinds of good ideas from newsletters." (Robert Horowitz, Editor of the Montgomery County, Maryland Journal.)
- A. "Yes, especially if it is sent to the reporter who writes about the subject in which you are involved." (Rudy Maxa, Washington Post reporter.)
- Q. How should we approach wire services at the state level?
- A. "The wire services are really excellent sources. You can keep them informed just as you do most editors and reporters. Wire services can blanket major cities, regions, states, and the nation. They will do a first-class, really professional job." (Wesley Pederson, Chief, Office of Special Projects, Press and Publication Services, International Communications Agency.)
- Q. 'How do you get to the people handling public service announcements for radio, TV, and what kind of pressures are they under?
- A. "It varies from station to station. On a small station, it may be the station manager. It may be a public service director. There is no one title; it depends upon the staff and the size of the station." (Paul Schuette, Director, Office of Information, Social Security Administration.)
- A. "The competition is huge for public service time, not so much on radio, because you have got so many radio stations agross the country. But on television stations, it is very high, and increasingly the stations are going to use material that is locally related.
 - "Also, usage depends on the personal interest of the person who is deciding it—whether it is the station manager or program manager or whoever. If this person is into blindness, spots about blindness will be picked. If the person is into health, something that comes from one of the health-related organizations will be picked.
 - "Stations are under an obligation to devote a certain amount of time to public service spots. There is some question right now. There may be some changes in those regulations, both through Congress and through the Federal Communication Commission.
 - "The only thing you can really do is call the station and try to find out who is scheduling spots, talk to the person on the phone or have a face-to-face visit." (Patricia S. Smith, Director of Information, American Foundation for the Blind.)

26

APPENDIX 11 -

VOLUNTEER RESOURCES

- Q. Do you have funding, other than grants and revenues from magazine subscriptions, to run your office?
- "We are working to get ourselves on more of a fee for service basis, rather than being quite as dependent on public and private grants. Instance, in the department in which I work, Education and Training, there are fees for workshops and so forth. And so this is one way we are trying to make each department pay for itself a little bit. That's not entirely possible, but hopefully, I think, with this merger, this will also be a real help." (Marg Bartosek, Education Specialist, National Center for Voluntary Action.)
- Q. How do you utilize volunteens who are unwilling to work directly with the impaired individual?
- "The person who cannot relate to a handicapped person or who is depressed by working with handicapped people, is an indication that the volunteer has/not been screened properly in the selection process or hasn't been prepared properly. We found, for instance, with our mentally retarded, that volunteers needed to be convinced before they started that no matter how much they loved and cherished and paid attention to the child, the child would still be retarded; otherwise the volunteers had fantasies that if they gave the child enough love the problem would go away. In dealing with handicapped people--and after all, in some way or other, we are all handicapped -- the way to minimize this situation is to observe more careful screening, better orientation, better supervision and a probationary period in which both the supervisor and the volunteer understand, "we'll try it." Some people, once they overcome their initial fear, (I saw this particularly when I worked in a mental hospital) just love it. But they need a kind of tryout period." (Elizabeth Cantor, Independent Consultant.)
- Q. Is there a volunteer action center (VAC) just for the Metropolitan Washington area?
- We now have a, VAC in the District. We also have one in Arlington, Fairfax, and Montgomery County suburbs. At one time we had an area-wide volunteer bureau, but we found our suburbs are too big to service in that way. For instance, Silver Spring, Maryland is the largest city in Maryland outside of Baltimore, and Arlington is a huge community. We have found it more efficient to have individual VACs; however, we work together very closely. One group does public relations for the whole area. We are on television, and give three phone numbers instead of one." (Elizabeth Cantor, Independent Consultant.)

APPENDIX III

STUDENT RESOURCES

- It would be very good if Recordings for the Blind (RFB) could state in their literature not only where to obtain equipment but that NLS equipment is for NLS books and magazines. Some patrons do not even know about a local library for the blind or physically handicapped.
- A. "Regional librarians need to tell students if they are going to use equipment for only RFB recordings they should get their own machines. Students can go to their state education departments and get equipment on quota through their federal quota, so there is a way." (Carl Lappin, Director of Instructional Materials Reference Center, American Printing House for the Blind, Inc.)
- A. "NLS note--NLS has reminded appropriate agencies to inform readers about requirements for using Library of Congress equipment."

APPENDIX IV

RELIGIOUS RESOURCES

- Are you setting up an orientation program for the representatives that you send to tell people about your program?
- A. "We are trying to work closely with our seven area directors who supervise our district representatives to make all of this very clear in their orientation. We do try to work very closely with the regional libraries. Recently, our California area director, along with our field director from the plant, visited with the Braille Institute in California. They tried to get across the understanding that we are working together, and we do encourage patrons to use regional library services as well as our resources, too. I am sorry if there has been a misunderstanding."

 (Marcella Harrom, Director of Library Services, Christian Record Braille Foundation.)
- Now district representatives serve a dual function in the sense that they help to generate the funds that support our organization. In so doing, their main work is to contact businessmen in the communities. As they contact businessmen, they also are able to locate plind people who are never really contacted or never really known of through other agencies. Our representatives make patrons aware of the fact that the Library of Congress does exist and does have materials that they can use."

 (Mr. Stout, Manager, Christian Record Braille Foundation.)
- Q. Do you prefer that we refer our patrons directly to you, or would you rather work through a regional or subregional library?
- A. "We would prefer to work directly with the blind--to have you refer them to us, and we circulate directly to them. If that's not possible, we will, of course, work with any library that would like to have our services. We will try to make thermoform copies when needed, but primarily we feel that to work directly with the blind is really the best method." (Richard Borgerson, Library Director, Jewish Braille Institute.)
- Q. Would you sell copies of your materials to regional libraries?
- A. "When we get the idea of selling things, we run into technical and tax problems, etc. We would make copies for you, of course, when possible. We would prefer to have you take our masters and make your own copies with your own materials. I think that would be much faster since the institution has a very limited staff. The library has seven people; the whole institute has a staff of fifteen. We will be able to make tape copies very quickly because we do have very sophiscated, high speed duplication equipment. One of the things I think you will find interesting, if you come to New York and are able to visit our institute, is that we have very elaborate recording facilities—probably much more elaborate than you. We are constantly on the lookout for religious radio broadcasts that are pertinent to Judaica. I now have more than 400 complete broadcasts in the library including "Eternal Light," "Adventures in Judaism," "Jewish Lives," and "Jewish World."

These are available for circulation all over the world. They are extremely popular in Australia, South Africa, and India. I am happy to say there is always a request for materials from India, and that all of our extra materials from India are shipped constantly to the Delhi and Karikal libraries. If you folks have anything extra, never throw away a braille book. Always ship it to India. Braille over there is worth its weight in gold." (Richard Borgerson, Library Director, Jewish Braille Institute.)

- Q. How do you relate to the Jewish Guild?
- A. "The Jewish Guild is a colleague organization in New York that we consider a secular library. It does many books in foreign languages and Spanish, but many things not related to Judaica. That's the New York Guild for the Jewish Blind. It is a secular rehabilitation organization with a library as part of that organization. The Jewish Braille Institute is primarily a library of Judaica and all of the materials there are related to Judaism." (Richard Borgerson, Library Director, Jewish Braille Institute.)
- Q. When you go to computers, are you considering going to fiche? Would you be able to make a fiche?
- A. "No. We are going onto the IBM 3400 system hooked up with two printouts and four display screens. I don't believe we are going to be
 using fiche at all. Again, we are exploring, and the final programming has not been determined yet. I would like to know any
 opinions and the concept of how you are doing it." (Richard Borgerson,
 Library Director, Jewish Braille Institute.)
- Q. Do. you serve only blind?
- A. "No, we serve anyone in the world. One of the things I constantly tell my people is that we are a library, not policemen. We will send anything we have to people anywhere in the world. The fact that it is needed is enough for us. We do not check for visual acuity. If a person has two broken arms and cannot turn the page of a book, we consider that as eligibility for talking books." (Richard Borgerson, Library Director, Jewish Braille Institute.)
- Q. Do you have an application for patrons to complete?
- A. "No. The only thing we consider is a written request. We are a little bit shy of telephones. We find that they drive us crazy. But you give us a written request, and we will let you have anything in the library." (Richard Borgerson, Library Director, Jewish Braille Institute.)
- Q. What about copyright?
- A. "Nobody in the world will sue a company that has put something that they don't sell into braille, recorded form or in large type for the blind.

 That is our philosophy, and therefore we do anything we can lay our hands on." (Richard Borgerson, Library Director, Jewish Braille Institute.)

APPENDIX V

TRAINING

- Q. I am interested in hearing more about attitudinal training because attitudes are certainly one of the biggest barriers we have to deal with.
- A. "We are under contract to the Office of Handicapped Individuals to do a series of workshops. We want to see what happens when federal managers; personnel people, and midlevel HEW staff consider their attitudes toward handicapped individuals. We want to see the attitudes of handicapped individuals who take part in the training. We want to see both in group dynamic situations.
 - ... So they are not models of training, necessarily. That's what you are asking for. This training is just a kind of group dynamics to see some of the things that happen. We will look at all the literature that does deal with attitudes towards others and then have enough information to go from there. But I think you want some models of training. That will have to come from elsewhere." (John Collins, Special Assistant for Handicapped Services, Rehabilitation Group, Inc., Arlington, Virginia.)
- Q. How do you teach braille to elderly people?
- A. "I started in 1965. Any person who has the ability to learn braille can do it at his/her own pace. We do not have a time frame of 15 or 20 weeks. If it takes people a year to complete all of Grades 2 and 3, then they can work at their own pace. Approximately one third of the students will be able to go through Grades 1 through 3. The other students will get a part of it—enough to take telephone numbers, identify items and things such as that. It is very, very difficult after a person will have reached the age of 60, and especially for diabetics." (Dorothy Donley, Director, Program for the Blind, John A Logan Community School, Washington, D.C.)
- Q. How are you able to get adults to come into a public school? How do you work that out? I have never heard of it being done before.
- A. "Well, this is in Adult and Continuing Education. In all schools you do have adult education, and this is within the community school. We are hoping that one day all schools will be community schools. We have some states that are very much on the ball when it comes to the community school setting. We have seventeen community schools in D.C. public schools. And when I say "community schools," there are schools that are open from nine o'clock in the morning until nine and ten o'clock at night, and they are open to anyone. We say we are working with adults from 18 and up, but community schools service anyone from the cradle to the grave. That was one reason why I was so concerned in trying to get into the community school setting, but really, it is Adult and Continuing Education." (Dorothy Donley, Director, Program for the Blind, John A. Logan Community School, Washington, D.C.)

APPENDIX VI

EXTENSION OF SERVICES

- Q... What would your attitude be if this program (NLS) was to be extended to cover the slow learner or the exceptional child?
- A. "Kenneth Jernigan, President, National Federation of the Blind: It is hard to be against library services to anybody. It's like being against virtue or for sin. But when you come down to it, my concern would be this: it would be what it was when we had to consider whether or not the service for the blind would be extended to the physically handicapped, and some people said, "You guys are being like dogs in a manger. You don't want the people to have what you have." And we said, "No, what we are concerned about is that the emphasis will be so shifted that the blind get lost, and we are concerned about dilution of the services so that nobody gets a good service."
 - "I would be very much concerned if these services were extended to other groups than those now eligible to receive them, unless at least simultaneously with it—not a promise but simultaneously—you had adequate appropriations to provide the services that were talked about. Otherwise, I, for one, would feel myself opposing it as vigorously as I could."
- Q. All of us are very hard pressed for physical facilities. What is your reaction to that?
- A. Walter Curley, President, Gaylord Brothers (White House Conference on Library and Information Services): "If I am saying it incorrectly, please correct me. As I understand it, you are referring to the problem that occurs in a great many states about a lack of facilities, inadequate space, from which you are able to—or unable to offer the services."
- A. Mr. Jernigan: "I want to make some comments, and you may also, if you like."
 - "The libraries for the blind traditionally have had space problems, severe space problems, because braille, especially, is exceedingly bulky and also because funding has been hard to come by for lots of—in fact, for most of the libraries.
 - "I think that it is a legitimate concern, but you know, if we just talk about it and we don't come up with some very definite recommendations, everybody will say, 'It's a shame we don't have the space,' and go back to the same cramped quarters we had before.
 - "So, I guess what we ought to do, if we are going to try to address the issues, is to think about what specific kind of recommendations we can make. It seems to me these are the alternatives. We could try to get a budgetary item so that the National Library Service could help provide space. That doubtless will lead to pros and cons in discussion. That is one way to go about it. There could be grants to states or to library systems. That would be another way to try to go about it. There could be, I suppose, some kind of contractual relationship."

- "If a group wants us to make this kind of recommendation and if it is to be meaningful, I for one, would like to know what specifically the group would like to see recommended so that it doesn't just end up as a generality."
- A. Mr. Curley: "If I may hitchnike, Mr. Jernigan, I happen to know that in the case of Louisiana they did come up and make--or they did come through with a resolution, and it is part of their plank that is being forwarded. And, I would gather, your delegates will have the opportunity in Washington to push hard for that kind of thing to be included within the overall nat-ional plank."
- A. Mr. Jernigan: "We will have a better chance, of course, if we can all agree in this room, and then if I am a good enough persuader, to try to get the national mechanism to incorporate this as part of its own view.
 - "Now a lot of people would say that that is not the way it is; all things are going to come from the state delegates, and it's all going to be just spontaneous and grass-roots. And if you believe that, then you have not participated in many activities.
 - "That's not the way it's going to be. You know it and I know it. The way it's really going to be is that there will be some of that, yes, and if there is a big enough ground swell, yes. But if you get something that a group really wants and it can get on the inside enough fo get its lick in as the language gets formulated, it has about 10 times better chance of getting it done. If we leave what we have done with the space issues where it is, then nothing will be done about it.
 - "I think if there is any further thought on that issue—I know how critical space is. I was in an agency which had more space than most, and still space is hard to come by. Now, if there is anything further on that and you want me to take anything definite—so far all I have is that we need more space—and unless we take something that is definite enough that I can try to promote a specific kind of thing, the conference isn't going to do much more on that except, I think, make some general platitudinous comments."
- Q. I am wondering what provision will be made to discuss library implementation in such things as Public Law 94-142, the Handicapped Children's Act, and Section 504 of the 1973 Act.
- A. Mr. Curley: "So, what you're saying is that legislation is in place in certain instances, but perhaps it isn't being implemented fully because information concerning it is not being disseminated widely."
- A. VOICE: "Correct."
- A. Mr. Jernigan: "And I think that is something that the committee ought to be aware of as we go forward."
- Q. I think you should take back the recommendation that the conference be held in an accessible facility.

- A. Mr. Curley: "Well, that was a statement, essentially, was it not?"
- Q. I have great concern with the taxpayer's revolt nationwide, and also I have great concern that the White House conference perhaps will come up with some suggestions in reference to the development of libraries nationwide, special, general, et cetera. My real concern is that—will the Administration (President of U.S.) listen to the opinion of the commissioners of this Conference? Or is it that the administration will take the suggestions and then probably just continue with LSCA in a moderate way?
- A. Mr. Jernigan: "Well, it is my opinion that they will listen to us if we develop, first, something that is coherent and articulate and is understandable and not too complex, and second, if we do something about it—that is, if we follow up.
 - "I don't think we will be listened to if we simply have a conference and then go home."
- A. Mr. Curley: "And hitchhiking on what Mr. Jernigan has said, I don't think they will listen to me personally at all, but to the conference, to the results of the conference, I think they will be listened to.
 - "An interesting thing, to me, is that librarians themselves, a great many of them, refer to outreach services in a sort of—I am not saying you folks are doing it—but in a sort of an offhand way. It is still tangential, or it is still tacked on or something, and the whole meat—and—potatoes business—of having books go in an out and reference work and so forth as the number one priority. My concern, on the basis of what I see coming out of the conferences, the conference is dominated by laypeople and emphasizes a great concern for outreach, and I would say to you that more concern will be registered on the basis of, in the outreach areas, by virtue of a two—thirds/one—third lay librarian grouping than if it were all librarians. And I am sorry to have to say that."
- A. Mr. Jernigan: "I am concerned, for my part, I guese, with two things: First and foremost, I don't want this conference to do any harm. I don't want it to come up with things that we have to live with for years that would have been better not done. So, I regard myself as kind of a watchdog, in some respects, on that.
 - "Second, I am concerned that in the documents of the conference and in its general emphasis on library and information services, the blind and handicapped don't get lost. Beyond, that, whether the total recommendations end up having much impact, it seems to me, will really largely depend on whether or not it is something we can all really believe in and work for and do something about."
- A. Mr. Curley: "And that Proposition 13 business-I did not quite finish it off-I guess my feeling is that you are in a good way to get strong planks for your particular concerns out of a conference structured the way it is, and it is probably very timely, because with other strong planks coming out, many of these programs may well suffer. And so you had better get a strong plank out."

34

CONFERENCE ATTENDEES

ALABAMA

Ron Countryman
Head, Service to the Blind &
Physically Handicapped
Birmingham Public Library
3200 North 27th Street
Birmingham, AL 35207
205-254-2531

Mrs. Deenie M. Culver
Librarian f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
Public Library of Anniston-Calhoun
County
P.O. Box 308
Anniston, AL 36202
205-237-8501

Mrs. Regina T. Finney
Program Coordinator
Alabama Regional Library f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
6030 Monticello Drive
Montgomery, AL 36130
205-277-7330, ext. 238

Gloria S. Lemaster, Librarian
Talladega Subregional Library f/t
Blind & Physically Handicapped
525 North Court Street
Talladega, AL 35160
205-362-7934

Charles A. Moss, Jr., Partner Moss, Garikes & Associates, Architects, Inc. 2305 Arlington Ave.
P.O. Box 3351-A
Birmingham, AL 35205
205-933-6690

ALABAMA

Miriam M. Pace
Head, Division f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
Alabama Regional Library f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
6030 Monticello Drive
Montgomery, AL 36130
205-277-7330

Ms. Joyce Smith
Librarian
Huntsville Subregional Library f/t Blind
& Physically Handicapped
P.O. Box 443
Huntsville, AL 35804
205-536-0022

Joyce Sowell
Librarian, Dept. f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
Mobile Public Library
Bldg. S-206, Avenue C
Brookley Ind. Complex
Mobile, AL 36615
205-433-0483, ext. 72

ALASKA.

Mary Jennings
Librarian.
Alaska State Library
650 W. International Airport Road
Anchorage, AK 99502
907-274-6625

ARIZONA

Arlene Bansal
Adm. Librarian
Az. State Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
3120 E. Roosevelt
Phoenix, AZ 85008
602-271-5578

ARIZONA

Susan B. Kilb
Talking Book Representative
State Services f/t Blind/Arizona
100 East Alameda/Suite 414
Tucson, AZ 85701
602-882-5309

ARKANSAS

Mrs. Cleotta Mullen
Regional Librarian
Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
311 West Capitol
Little Rock, AR 72201
501-371-1155

CALIFORNIA

Marion Bourke Librarian Books f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped California State Library 600 Broadway Sacramento, CA 95818 916-322-4090

Phyllis Cairns
Library Director
Braille Institute
741 No. Vermont Ave.
Los Angeles, CA 90029
213-663-1111, ext. 285

Ms. Leslie Eldridge Talking Book's Librarian San Francisco Public Library Communications Center 3150 Sacramento Street San Francisco, CA 94115 415-558-3985

CALIFORNIA

Geoffrey Nelson Vice President, Marketing Telesensory Systems, Inc. 3408 Hillview Avenue Palo Alto, CA 94304

Vito Proscia
Vice President, Technical Aids,
Telesensory Systems, Inc.
3408 Hillview Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94304

COLORADO

Rudy Savage
Talking Books Publishing Co.
Box 553
Englewood, CO 80150

James M. Schubert
Supervisor
Colorado State Library
Services f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
1313 Sherman Street
Denver, CO 80203
303-839-2081

CONNECTICUT

Dale Jeske
Assistant Unit Head
Library f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
Connecticut State Library
231 Capitol Avenue
Hartford, CT 06115
203-566-5295

Dominic A. Persempere
Head, Services to State Agencies and
Institutions
Connecticut State Library
231 Capitol Avenue
Hartford, CT 06115
203-566-5295

DELAWARE

Billie Jean Ouelette Handicapped Services 215 Dover Street Dover, DE 19901 302-678-4523

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Barbara Bailey
Director
District of Columbia State Protection
& Advocacy System for Developmental Disability
1625 Eye Street, NW
Washington; DC 20006

Marg Bartosek Education Specialist National Center for Voluntary Action 1214 16th Street, NW Washington, DC 202-467-5560

Isabel Belts
Program Coordinator
Potomac Gardens Recreational Center
12th & G Streets, SE
Washington, DC

Elizabeth Cantor 3143 Upland Terrace, NW Washington, DC 20015 202-362-7046

Dorothy Donley
Director, Program f/t Blind
John A. Logan Community School
3rd & G Streets, NE
Washington, DC

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

James Gashel National Federation of the Blind Washington Office 1346 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036 202-785-2974

Sarah Gooding
Studio Director
DC Chapter, Recording f/t Blind
Wisconsin Ave. & Albemarle Street, NW
Washington, DC

Donald Hailes
District of Columbia Regional Library
901 G Street, NW
Washington, DG 20001

David C. King
National Rehabilitation Information Center
308 Mullen Library
Catholic University of America
Washington, DC 20064

Emiko Lum National Rehabilitation Information Center 308 Mullen Library Catholic University of America Washington, DC 20064

Grace J. Lyons
Chief, District of Columbia Regional Library
f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
District of Columbia Public Library
901 G Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001
202-727-2142

Evaline B. Neff Library Program Officer U.S. Office of Education 7th and D Streets, SW Washington, DC 20202 202-472-5150

00 000

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Irvin P. Schloss
Director, Government Relations
American Foundation f/t Blind
1660 L Street, NW
Suite 214
Washington, DC 20036
202-467-5996

Linda Stone
Director, Residential Services
The Thomas House
1330 Massachusetts Avenue, NW
Washington, DC

Oleg Tretiakoff
President
ELINFA, Inc.
1725 K Street, NW
Suite 1114
Washington, DC 20006

Larry Volin
Deputy Director, State Relations
The President's Committee on Employment of the Handicapped
1111 20th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20036
202-653-5153

FLORIDA

Sherry Ann Hokanson Field Services Librarian Florida Regional Library P.O. Box 2299 Daytona Beach, FL 32015 904-252-7616

Alison Beth Landers Librarian Orlando Public Library 10 North Rosalind Ave. Orlando, FL 32801 305-425-4694

FLORIDA

William F. Newberry
Technical Services Librarian
Florida Regional Library f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
P.O. Box 2299
Daytona Beach, FL 32015
904-252-7616

Mr. Stephen Prine
Librarian II
The Florida, Regional Library f/t Blind &
Physically, Handicapped
P.O. Box 2299
Daytona Beach, FL 32015
904-252-7616

Michael J. Sweeney Miami-Dade Public Library System 150 NE 79th Street Miami, FL 33138 305-638-6937

Arthur Weeks
Librarian
Palm Beach County Public Library-Talking Books
3650 Summit Blvd.
West Palm Beach, FL -33406
305-686-3492

GEORGIA

Mrs. Ennis Brock Circulation Librarian South West Ga. Regional Library Shotwell at Monroe Bainbridge, GA 31717 912-246-3887

John Crum, Librarian Albany Talking Book Center 2040 Newton Road Albany, GA 31701 912-439-4321

12

GEORGIA

Jim DeJamatt
Director
Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
1050 Murphy Avenue, SW
Atlanta, GA 30310
404-656-2465

Virginia Everett Librarian Macon Talking Book Center Shurling Library Shurlington Plaza Macon, GA 31211 912-745-5813

Iona L. Foreman
Textbook Consultant, Librarian
Georgia Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
1050 Murphy Avenue, SW
Atlanta, GA 30310
404-656-2426

Sadie Jenkins
Talking Book Center Librarian
Tri-County Regional Library
Talking Book Center
606 Broad
Rome, GA 30161
404-291-9360

Mary Margaret Johnson
Coordinator, Talking Books Program
Chatham-Effingham-Liberty Regional
Library
2002 Bull Street
Savannah, GA 31401
912-234-5127

GEORGIA

Louise Jones
Senior Library Assistant
Chatham-Effingham-Liberty Regional Library
2002 Bull Street
Savannah, GA 31401
912-234-5127

Robert L. Manning Talking Book Center Librarian Cherokee Regional Library 305 South Duke Street LaFayetta, GA 30728 404-638-2992

Ruth T. Marshall
Director
Southwest Georgia Regional Library
Shotwell at Monroe
Brainbridge, GA 31717
912-246-3887

Mary S. Maxwell
Pre-Professional Talking Book Asst.
Augusta-Richmond County Public Library
902 Greene Street
Augusta, GA 30902
404-724-1871

Barbara L. Moyer
Librarian f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
Talking Book Center
South Georgia Regional Library
300 Woodrow Wilson Drive
Valdosta, GA 31601
912-247-3405

Mrs. Ruby Y. Myers Librarian f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped Brunswick Talking Book Center 208 Gloucester Street Brunswick, GA 31520 912-264-7360



GEORGIA

Crawford B. Pike
Director, Talking Book Center
W.C. Bradley Memorial Library
Bradley Drive
Columbus, GA 31906
404-327-0211

Patricia W. Salas
Director
Subregional Library f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
435 N. Lumpkin Street
Athens, GA 30601
404-549-1760

Mrs. Nannette C. Woodward Talking Book Librarian Oconee Regional Library 801 Bellevue Avenue Dublin, GA 31021 912-272-5710

HAWAII

Lydia S. Ranger
Head Librarian
Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
402 Kapahulu Avenue
Honolulu, HI 96815
808-732-7767

IDAHO

Harry Herbert Chief, Field Operations Idaho Commission for the Blind Statehouse Boise, ID 83720 208-384-3220

IDAHO

Evva L. Larson
Assistant State Librarian
Idaho State Library
325 W. State Street
Boisé, ID 83702
208-384-2150

Julie Rieman
Chief, Library Services Dept.
Idaho Commission f/t Blind
Statehouse
Boise, ID 83720
08-384-3220

<u>ILLINOIS</u>

Carl Beery Consultant,
Suburban & North Suburban Library Systems
125 Tower Drive
Hinsdale (Burr Ridge), IL 60521
312-325-6640

Dee Canfield Talking Books Consultant River Bend Library System P.O. Box 125 Coal Valley, IL 61240 309-799-3131

Clara E. Castelo
Librarian, Library Services f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
Rolling Prairie Libraries
345 W. Eldorado
Decatur, IL 62522
217-429-2586

Donna Dziedzic
Director
Illinois Regional Library f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
1055 W. Roosevelt Road
Chicago, IL 60608
312-738-9200

40

1 0



ILLINOIS

Robert F. Ensley Consultant Illinois State Library Centennial Building Springfield, IL 62756 217-782-7848

Karen L. Odean
Librarian, Services f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
Northern Illinois Library System
4034 East State Street
Rockford, IL 61108
815-229-0330

Stephen H. Plum
Director
Multistate Center for the Midlands
21 Marquette Avenue, Route 1
Oglesby, IL 61348
815-883-3582

Beverly J. Sanders Special Services Consultant Kaskaskia Library System 306 N. Main St., P.O. Bóx 325 Smithton, IL 62285 618-235-4220

Richard L. Shurman Special Services Librarian DuPage Library System P.O. Box 268 127 South 1st Street Geneva, IL 60134 312-232-8457

ILLINOIS

Deborah A. Wheelock Special Services Librarian Corn Belt & Lincoln Trail Library Systems 1809 West Hovey Ave. Normal, IL 61701 309-454-2711

INDIANA

Marian Collins
Coordinator, Talking Book Machine Program
Indiana Rehabilitation Services
7725 N. College Ave.
Indianapolis, IN 46240
317-253-1481, ext. 53

Barney R. McEwen
Division Head
Indiana State Library, Division f/t Blind
& Physically Handicapped
140 North Senate Ave.
Indianapolis, IN 46204
317-633-5976

Isabelle Otter, Head Fort Wayne Public Library Talking Book Department 900 Webster Street Fort Wayne, IN 46802 219-424-7241, ext. 48

AWOI

Duane Gerstenberger
Assistant Director in charge of Libary
& Social Services
Iowa Commission for the Blind
4th and Keosauqua Way
Des Moines, IA 50309
515-283-2601





KANSAS

Rose Mary Calovich
Librarian
Kansas City, Kansas Public Libary
625 Minnesota Ave.
Kansas City, KS 66101
913-621-3073, ext. 226

Linda Carter
Central Kansas Library System
1409 Williams
Great Bend, KS 67530
316-792-2393

Carrol L. Dillaha Area Consultant South Central Kansas Library System 901 North Main Hutchinson, KS 67501 316-663-5441

Mrs. Louise Green Subregional Librarian, Talking Books Southwest Kansas Library System 606 First Avenue Dodge City, KS 67801 316-225-1231

Marlene Hendrick Topeka Public Libaray 1515 W. 10th Street Topeka, KS 66604 913-233-2040

Sheila Merrell
Librarian
Kansas State Library, Division f/t
Blind & Physically Handicapped
529 Kansas Avenue
Topeka, KS 66603
913-296-3642

KANSAS

Betty Spriggs
Talking Books Librarian
Wichita Public Library
223 S. Main
Wichita, KS 67202
316-262-0611

Beverly Sullivan Subregional Librarian Hutchinson Public Library 901 S. Main Hutchinson, KS 67501 316-663-5441

KENTUCKY

Ralph Drake
Kentucky Library f/t Blind and Physically
Handicapped
P.O. Box 818
Frankfort, KY 40602
502-564-5532

Ressie Jennings
Kentucky Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
P.O. Box 818
Frankfort, KY 40602
502-564-5532

Carl Lappin
Director, Instructional Materials Reference
Center
American Printing House f/t Blind
1839 Frankfort Avenue
Louisville, KY 40206
502-895-2405

Hazel V. Maffet
Head, Magazine Circulation & Fund Raising
American Printing House f/t Blind
Louisville, KY 40206
502-895-2405

KENTUCKY

Sue DeBrecht Murrell
Division Head
Louisville Subregional Library f/t Blind
& Physically Handicapped
301 West York
Louisville, KY 40203
502-587-1069

Gloria Rawlings
Kentucky Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
P.O. Box 818
Frankfort, KY 40602
502-564-5532

Adam Rushival
Kentucky Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
P.O. Box 818
Frankfort, KY 40602
502-564-5532

Marcie Sleadd

Kentucky Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped

P.O. Box 818

Frankfort, KY 40602

502-564-5532

LOUISIANA

Carolyn R. Courtney Typist Clerk Blind Services Program P.O. Box 28 Baton Rouge, LA 70821 504-342-5284

Judy Lastrapes, Librarian Louisiana State Library Dept. f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped P.O. Box 131 Baton Rouge, LA 70821 504-342-4942

<u>MAINE</u>

Robert Britton
Maine State Library
Services to the Handicapped
Augusta, ME 04333

MARYLAND

Shirley Bean
Prince Georges' Memorial Library
6530 Adelphi Road
Hyattsville, MD 20782

James G. Chandler Volunteer Worker with and f/t Blind 9116 St. Andrews Place College Park, MD 20740 202-935-5772

Caryl Emens Gallicchio
Librarian II
Selvice f/t Physically Handicapped
Montgomery County Dept. of Public Libraries
99 Maryland Avenue
Rockville, MD 20850
301-279-1679

President
National Federation of the Blind
1101 St. Paul Street, Suite 412
Baltimore, MD 212

Al Miller
Assistant Director
Maryland State Lib my f/t Blind &
Physically Hall capped
1715 N. Charles Street
Baltimore MD: 21201
301-383-3111



MARYLAND

James Murray
Director

Maryland State Library f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
1715 N. Charles St.
Baltimore, MD 21201
301-383-3111

MASSACHUSETTS

Joanne Giudicessi Marketing Representative Kurzweil Computer Products, Inc. 264 Third Street Cambridge, MA 02142 617-864-4700

Paul Grindle President The Ealing Corporation 22 Pleasant Street South Natick, MA 01760 617-655-7000

Kevin J. Smith
Director, Talking Book Services
Massachusetts Commission f/t Blind *
72 Second Street
Cambridge, MA 02141
617-727-9840

Marlene Temsky
Head, Talking Book Library
Gentral Massachusetts Regional Library
System
Quinsigamond Branch (WPE)
812 Millbury Street
Worcester, MA 91607
617-752-3751

MASSACHUSETTS

Gisela M. Titman
Head Librarian, Perkins School & Regional
Librarian for MA
Perkins School f/t Blind; MA Regional
Library f/t Blind & PH
175 N. Beacon Street
Watertown, MA 02172
617-924-3434, ext. 231

MICHIGAN_

Ellen Kendall
Head, Wayne County Regional Library f/t
Blind & Physically Handicapped
33030 Van Born Road
Wayne, MI 48184
313-274-2600

Elizabeth Lennon 1315 Greenwood Avenue Apt. 25 Kalamazoo, MI 49002 616-381-9566

Raymond E. Mahoney Head, Public Library Program State Library, Michigan 876 Audubon Street E. Lansing, MI 48823 517-373-1583

Ruthe L. Marshall Librarian Blind & Physically Handicapped Library 4133 Washtenaw Road, Box 8645 Ann Arbor, Michigan 48107 313-971-6059

Mary Lou McGue
Director, Services to the Homebound'
Sturgis Public Library
Box 829
Sturgis, MI 49091
616-651-7907

MICHIGAN

Jill E. Newhouse
Librarian, Department Head
Blind & Physically Handicapped Library
Kent County Library System
775 Ball Ave., NE
Grand Papids, MI 49503
616-774-3262

Julie A. Nicol
Regional Librarian, Blind & Physically
Handicapped Library
Michigan Dept. of Education
735 E. Michigan Ave.
Lansing, MI 48909
517-373-1590

Beverly Daffern Papai Subregional Librarian Oakland County Library f/t Blind & Handicapped 32737 West Twelve Mile Road Farmington Hills, MI 48018 313-553-0300

Margaret Ritz Head, Subregional Library Willard Library 7 W. Van Buren Battle Creek, MI 49016 616-968-8188

Joyce Wheat
Librarian
Mideastern Mich. Library Cooperative
Blind & Physically Handicapped Library
G-4915 W. Pasadena Ave.
Flint, MI 48504

Susah S. Williams
Assistant Director
Northland Library Cooperative
211 North First Avenue
Alpena, MI 49707
517-356-4444

MINNESOTA

Ellie Lysdahl
Supervisor - Tape Textbook Section
Communication Center, State Services
f/t Blind
1745 University Avenue
St. Paul, MN 55104
612-296-7557

Jini Sisson
Coordinator - Equipment Distribution Section
Communication Center, State Services
f/t Blind
1745 University Avenue
St. Paul, MN 55104
612-296-7560

Myrna Wright, Librarian
Minn Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
Box 68
Fairbault, MN 55021
-507-344-6411, ext. 279

MISSISSIPPI

JoEllen Ostendorf
Assistant Head, Service f/t Handicapped'
Mississippi Library Commission
P.O. Box 3260
Jackson, MS 39207
601-354-7208

M ISSOURI

Pennie D. Peterson
Coordinator
Wolfner Memorial Library f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
1808 Washington Ave.
St. Louis, MO 63103
314-241-4227

MISSOURI

Ray S. Phillips
Assistant Coordinator
Mo. St. Lib. - Wolfner Memorial Library
f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
1808 Washington Ave.
St. Louis, MO 63103
314-241-4227

NEBRASKA

Darlene Frank
Talking Book Bibrarian
Kimball Public Library
208 South Walnut
Kimball, NE 69145
308-235-4523

Rodeane Green
Director
Nebraska Library f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
1420 P Street
Lincoln, NE 68508
402-471-2661

Marcella Harrom
Library Director (
Christian Record Braille Foundation, Inc. 4444 S. 52nd Street
Lincoln, NE 68506
402-488-0981

Rathy Pinkney
Equipment Control
Nebraska Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
1420 P Street
Lincoln, NE 88508
402-471-2661

NEW JERSEY

Ann Bernstein
Machine Distribution Service
New Jersey Commission f/t Blind &
Visually Impaired
1100 Raymond Boulevard
Newark, NJ 07102
201-648-2865

Adeline Franzel
Consultant, Library Programs for Handicapped People
(Retired from New Jersey State Library)
304 W. Collings Ave. (rear)
Collingswood, NJ 08108
609-854-8196

Patricia Kirk Assistant Director N.J. Library f/t Blind & Handicapped 1676 N. Olden Ave. Trenton, NJ 08638 609-292-6450

Phyllis Masia
Librarian
New Jersey Library f/t Blind & Handicapped
1676 North Olden Avenue
Trenton, NJ 08638
609-292-6450

NEW MEXICO

Lois MacLean
Regional Librarian
New Mexico State Library f/t Blind and
Physically Handicapped
P.O. Box 1629
300 Don Gaspar
Santa Fe, NM 87503
505-827-2033

NEW YORK

Kathlyn C. Adams
Outreach Consultant
Monroe County Library System
115 South Avenue
Rochester, NY 14604
716-428-7356

Pamela K. Barr

Division Chief, Reading f/t

Handicapped

Suffolk Cooperative Library System

P.O. Box 187

Bellport, NY 11713

516-286-1600

Agnes Beck
Coordinator - Library & Braille Services
NY Assoc. f/t Blind
111 East 59th Street
New York, NY 10022
212-355-2200, ext. 397

Marvin Berkowitz
Associate Director
American Foundation f/t Blind
15 West 16th Street
New York, NY 10011
212-924-0420

Richard Borgersen Library Director Jewish Braille Institute 110 East 30th Street New York, NY 10016 212-889-2525

Walter W. Curley President Gaylord Brothers, Inc. P.O. Box 4901 Syracuse, NY 13221 315-457-5070

NEW YORK

Peter Hanke American Foundation f/t Blind 15 W. 16th Street New York, NY 10011 212-924-0420

William P. Howle
Production Manager, Talking Book Div.
American Foundation f/t Blind, Inc.
15 West 16th Street
New York, NY 10014
212-924-0420

Jeanne Kenmore
Director of Education
Helen Keller International, Inc.
22 West 17th Street
New York, NY 10011
212-620-2109

Alar Kruus
Library f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
The New York Public Library
166 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10013
212-925-1011

Rev. A.F. LaBau Director Xavier Society f/t Blind 154 East 23rd Street New York, NY 10010 212-473-7800

John Likely
American Foundation f/t Blind
15 W. 16th Street
New York, NY 10011
212-924-0420



NEW YORK

Barbara Nugent
Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
The New York Public Library
166 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10013
212-925-1011

Julia G. Russell Supervisor, Subregional Library Nassau Library System 900 Jerusalem Avenue Uniondale, NY 11553 516-292-8920

Gunta Semba Librarian Lavelle School f/t Blind East 221st Street & Paulding Ave. Bronx, NY 10469 212-882-1212

John Shapiro
American Foundation f/t Blind
15 W. 16th Street
New York, NY 10011
212-924-0420

Katherine K. Sheng Deputy Head, Reference Librarian Teachers College Library, Columbia U. Box 307, 525 W. 120th Street New York, NY 10027 212-678-3020

Audrey June Smith
Associate Librarian
New York State Library f/t Blind &
Visually Handicapped
Cultural Education Center
Empire State Plaza
Albany, NY 12230
518-474-5935

NEW YORK

Patricia S. Smith
Director of Information
American Foundation 1/t Blind
15 W. 16th Street
New York, NY 10011
212-924-0420

Rev. Chenoweth J. Watson General Secretary John Milton Society f/t Blind 29 West 34th Street, 6th Floor New York, NY 10001 212-736-4162

· NORTH CAROLINA

Jenny Berman
Subregional Librarian
Metrolina Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
310 N. Tryon Street
Charlotte NC 28202
704-334-4358

Penelope M. Hornsby
Assistant Regional Librarian
North Carolina Library f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
1811 North Blvd.
Raleigh, NC 27635
919-733-4376

Bonnie G. Peele
Special Projects Librarian
NC Library f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
1811 North Blvd.
Raleigh, NC 27635
919-733-4376

 $\tilde{5}2$

NORTH DAKOTA

Renae C. Huseby TBM Clerk Services for Visually Impaired Box 8117, University Station Grand Forks, ND 58201 701-777-2604

OHIO

Larry Gerber
Program Specialist
Ohio Rehabilitation Services
Commission, Talking Book Program
4550 Heaton Road
Columbus, OH 43229
614-466-4550

James J. Kennedy
Regional Librarian .
Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
Public Library of Cincinnati &
Hamilton County
444 West Third Street
Cincinnati, OH 45202
513-369-6075

Muriel Lass Secretary - National Braille Assn. 5300 Hamilton Ave., #309 Cincinnati, OH 45224

Eunice Lovejoy
Library Development Consultant,
Services to the Handicapped
The State Library of Ohio
65 South Front Street
Columbus, OH 43215
614-466-3710

OHIO

Katherine Prescott 3617 Meadowbrook Blvd. Cleveland, OH 44118 216-321-8701

Robert W.H. Vokes
Dept. Head, Braille & Talking Book Dept.
Cleveland Public Library
325 Superior Ave.
Cleveland, OH 44114
216-623-2911

Ann M. Walker
Information Systems Section
Battelle Columbus Laboratories
505 King Avenue
Columbus, OH 43201

OKLAHOMA

Bill McIlvain
Oklahoma Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
1108 N.E. 36th
Oklahoma City, OK 73111
405-521-3514

OREGON

Rhea Rubin
Director
Library Services f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
Oregon State Library
555 13th Street, NE
Salem, OR 97301
503-581-5538



PENNSYLVANIA

Libby Blackman
Assistant Librarian
Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
919 Walnut Street
Philadelphia, PA 19107
215-925-3213

Margaret Cheeseman Library Development Advisor State Library of Pennsylvania P.O. Box 1601 Harrisburg, PA 17126 717-787-8007

Michael P. Coyle
Head
Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
919 Walnut Street
Philadelphia, PA 19107
215-925-3213

Dolores Ferrara
Director
Multistate Center for the North
919 Walnut Street, 9th Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19107
215-925-2368

Ann Fitzmier
Assistant Head Librarian
Library f/t Blind & Physically
Handicapped
Carnegie Library of Pittsburgh
4724 Baum Blvd.
Pittsburgh, PA 15213
412-687-2440

PENNSYLVANIA

Sue Murdock
Head Librarian
Library f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
Carnegle Library of Pittsburgh
4724 Baum Blvd.
Pittsburgh, PA 15213.
412-687-2440

PUERTO RICO

Leida Torres de Velez
Regional Librarian
Puerto Rico Regional Library f/t Blind &
Physically Handicapped
Center for Occupational Training
Box 5063
Puerta de Tierra Station
San Juan, Puerto Rico 00906
809-767-6425

RHODE ISLAND

Richard G. Leduc
Supervisor of Services to the Handicapped
Rhode Island Dept. of State Library Services
95 Davis Street
Providence, RI 02908
401-277-2726

SOUTH CAROLINA

Frances K. Case
South Carolina State Library f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
718 S. Edisto Ave.
Columbia, SC 29205
803-758-2726

SOUTH CAROLINA

James B. Johnson, Jr.
Director
South Carolina State Library
Div. f/t Blind & Physically Handicapped
718 South Edisto Avenue
Columbia, SC 29205
803-758-2726

SOUTH DAKOTA

Rev. Sterling H. Simonson Executive Director Ephphatha-Services for Deaf & Blind P.O. Box 713 Sioux Falls, SD 57101 605-339-0066

John J. Vincent {
Program Administrator
South Dakota State Library f/t
Handicapped
State Library Bldg.
Pierre, SD 57501
605-773-3514

TENNESSEE

Francis H. Ezell
Director, Tennessee Library f/t Blind.
& Physically Handicapped
Library and Archives
5200 Centennial Blvd.
Nashville, TN 37209
615-741-3915

<u>l'exas</u>

Marie Deckard
Supervisor, Talking Book Machine Div,
State Commission f/t Blind
2216 Rutland Drive
Austin, TX 78758
512-837-7234

TEXAS

Sara L. Nelson Texas State Library, DBPH P.O. Box 12927, Capitol Station Austin, TX 78711 512-475-4758

<u>UTAH</u>

Gerald A. Buttars
Regional Librarian
Utah State Library Commission
2160 South 300 West, Suite 16
Salt Lake City, UT 84115
801-533-5855

VE<u>RMONT</u>

Josephine Hess
Special Services Consultant
Vermont Department of Libraries
State Street
Montpelier, VT 05602
802-828-3273

VIRGINIA

Sandra O. Bailey
Machine Inventory Clerk
Virginia State Library f/t Visually &
Physically Handicapped
1901 Roane Street
Richmond, VA 23222
804-786-8016

Patricia O. Bates, Talking Book Assistant Alexandria Library 3600 Commonwealth Avenue Alexandria, VA 22305 703-750-6357

VIRGINIA

Peggy Bergin
Talking Book Service
Arlington Co. Dept. of Libraries
1015 North Quincy Street
Arlington, VA 22201
2703-527-4777, ext. 56

Frederic W. Boots
Chief, Special Services Division
Alexandria Library
3600 Commonwealth Avenue
Alexandria, VA 22305
703-750-6439

Nañoy Cavanaugh
Outreach Librarian
Arlington County Public Library
1015 North Quincy Street
Arlington, VA 22201
703-527-4777, ext. 71

Sarah D. Collier
Library Clerk
Slemp Memorial Library
11 Proctor Street
Big Stone Gap, VA 24219
703-523-1334

John Collins, III
Special Asst. for Handicapped Services
Rehab Group, Inc.
3110 Columbia Pike
Arlington, VA 22204
713-979-0770

Jean B. Gerhardt 916 Rail Court McLean, VA 22102

VIRGINIA

Gail Law
Library Aide, Talking Books
Fairfax County Public Library
John Marshall Branch
6209 Rose Hill Drive
Alexandria, VA 22310
703-971-0030

Suzanne Lynch
Bookmobile Librarian
Library f/t Blind
112 Main Street
Newport News, VA 23601
804-599-4002

Marilyn W. Mortensen
Special Services Coordinator
Subregional Librarian
Virginia Beach Public Library
936 Independence Blvd.

Virginia Beach, VA 23455
804-464-9175

Inge Powers
Library Technician
Library f/t Blind
112 Main Street
Newport News, VA 23601
804-599-4002

Dale S. Snair
Asst. Librarian
Virginia State Library f/t Visually &
Rhysically Handicapped
1901 Roane Street
Richmond, VA 23222
804-786-8016

VIRGINIA

Carolyn M. White Librarian, Talking Books Fairfax County Public Library John Marshall Branch 6209 Rose Hill Drive Alexandria, VA 22310 703-971-0030

Aleene Wicher
Special Services Assistant Supervisor
Virginia Beach Public Library
936 Independence Blvd.
Virginia Beach, VA 23455
804-464-9175

VIRGIN ISLANDS

Marjorie Foley
Librarian
Virgin Islands Regional Library f/t Blind
& Physically Handicapped
Box 390
St. Thomas, VI 00801
809-774-6770

WASHINGTON

Jan Ames
Head, Readers' Services Dept.
Washington Regional Library f/t Blind
& Physically Handicapped
811 Harrison Street
Seattle, WA 98129
206-464-6930

WEST VIRGINIA

Dolly Rapking
Librarian II - Head - B/PH
West Virginia Library Commission,
Services f/t Blind & Phy. Handicapped
Science and Cultural Center
Charleston, WV 25305
304-348-4061

WEST VIRGINIA

Sandra Stemple
Coordinator of Talking Books
Morgantown Public Library
373 Spruce Street
Morgantown, WV 26505
304-296-1759

WISCONSIN

Mary Leon Miller
Regional Librarian
Wisconsin Regional Library f/t Blind
& Physically Handicapped
814 West Wisconsin Ave.
Milwaukee, WI 53233
414-278-3045

WYOMING

H. Smith Shumway Director Services for Visually Handicapped Hathaway Building Cheyenne, WY 82002 307-777-7279

CANADA

Susan Beatty
Handicapped Services Librarian
Alberta Library Services to the Handicapped
616 McLeod Tr. S.E.
Calgary, Alberta
Canada R2G2M2
403-268-5296

Francoise Hebert
Director, National Library Services
The Canadian National Institute f/t Blind
1929 Bayview Avenue
Toronto, Ontario
Canada M4G 3E8
416-486-2576



NETHERLANDS

NIGERIA

Donatus A. Ashamole Social Welfare Assistant
Nigeria Farm Craft Centre f/t Blind
Federal Ministry of Health & Social Devel.
Social Development Directorate
5 Kofo Abayomi Road
Victoria Island
Lagos, Nigeria

Rosaline O. Balogun Social Welfare Worker Nigerian Nat. Advisory Council f/t Blind 15 Martins Street Lagos, Nigeria